Radiolaria and Phaeodaria

Demetrio Boltovskoy, O. Roger Anderson, and Nancy M. Correa

Abstract

Polycystina (~400-800 living species and several thousand extinct forms) and Phaeodaria (~400-500 living species) are exclusively marine, open-ocean planktonic protists, most of which possess elaborate siliceous skeletons. The cytoplasm is divided into an internal part (endoplasm) separated from the external, more vacuolated one (ectoplasm) by a perforated membrane – the central capsule. The Polycystina protrude long and slender cytoplasmic projections (axopodia) supported internally by a rigid central rod (axoneme); while the Phaeodria have a network of peripheral finely interconnected pseudopodia. A few Polycystina are colonial, but most, as well as all Phaeodaria, are solitary, around 40 µm to almost 2 mm in size. Most polycystine species peak in abundance between 0 and 100 m, whereas phaeodarians tend to live deeper, often below 300 m. Polycystines have a rich fossil record dating from the Cambrian and are important for stratigraphic, paleoecologic, and evolutionary studies. The world-wide biogeography and diversity of radiolarians is chiefly governed by water temperature. Radiolarian prey includes bacteria, algae, protozoa, and microinvertebrates. Many surfacedwelling species of Polycystina possess symbiotic algae and photosynthetic

D. Boltovskoy (🖂)

O.R. Anderson

Instituto de Ecología, Genética y Evolución de Buenos Aires (IEGEBA), Facultad de Ciencias Exactas y Naturales, Universidad de Buenos Aires-CONICET, Buenos Aires, Argentina e-mail: demetrio@ege.fcen.uba.ar

Department of Biology and Paleoenvironment, Earth and Environmental Sciences, Lamont-Doherty Earth Observatory of Columbia University, Palisades, NY, USA e-mail: ora@ldeo.columbia.edu

N.M. Correa Servicio de Hidrografía Naval, Escuela de Ciencias del Mar (Instituto Universitario Naval), Buenos Aires, Argentina e-mail: ncorrea@hidro.gov.ar

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017 J.M. Archibald et al. (eds.), *Handbook of the Protists*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-28149-0_19

cyanobacteria that provide nourishment to the host. Some colonial radiolaria reproduce by binary fission of the central capsules. Sexual reproduction of polycystines or Phaeodaria has not been confirmed, but the release of motile swarmers, likely gametes, has been widely documented. In species with a radial symmetry (Spumellaria) shell-growth is centrifugal, whereas in the Nassellaria the internal cephalic elements and the cephalis appear first. Individual longevity is estimated to range between 2 and 3 weeks and 1–2 months.

Keywords

Radiolaria • Polycystina, Phaeodaria, radiolarians

Contents

Summary Classification	732
Introduction	733
General Characteristics	733
Occurrence	733
Literature	735
History of Knowledge	735
Practical Importance	735
Habitats and Ecology	736
Geographic Distribution and Biogeography	736
Characterization and Recognition	744
Cell Ultrastructure	744
The Skeleton	745
Feeding, Symbionts, Necrotrophs, and Predators	749
Reproduction, Growth and Longevity	752
Systematics	753
Evolutionary History	756
Maintenance and Cultivation	756
References	757

Summary Classification

- Rhizaria
- ••Cercozoa
- ●●●Thecofilosea
- ••••Phaeodaria (=Tripylea)
- ••••Phaeoconchia
- ••••Phaeocystina
- ••••Phaeogromia
- ••••Phaeosphaeria
- ••Retaria
- •••Polycystinea
- ••••Collodaria (skeletonless, or with isolated spicules)

- ••••Spumellaria
- ●●●●Nassellaria
- ••••Archaeospicularia (extinct)
- ••••Albaillellaria (extinct)
- ••••Latenfistularia (extinct)
- ••••Entactiniaria (extinct)

Introduction

General Characteristics

Polycystines and phaeodarians (Fig. 1) are marine protists, previously assigned to the phylum Actinopoda because they both possess elaborate siliceous skeletons surrounding an organic central capsule with pores, from which axopodia emerge in most members of the phylum. However, the phylum Actinopoda is no longer accepted as a valid taxonomic category, and Polycystinea are assigned to the higher-level group Retaria, and Phaeodaria are now assigned to the higher-level group Thecofilosea (Adl et al. 2012). Axopodia are long and slender cytoplasmic projections that protrude radially from the cell and are supported internally by a rigid central rod composed of a shaft of microtubules. Axopodia support a web-like network of sticky cytoplasmic strands of pseudopodia that aid in the capture of prey. Presently, we know that only polycystines possess typical axopodia, whereas characteristically produce a network of peripheral Phaeodaria finely interconnected pseudopodia that arise from two, specialized protoplasmic strands (parapylae) emerging from two pores in the central capsule. In addition there is a more massive cytoplasmic mass that emanates from an aperature (astropyle) resembling the oral aperture of some testate amoebae. Neither the astropyle nor the accessory openings *parapylae* exhibit structures resembling axopodia or fusules (Anderson 1983). All Phaeodaria are solitary, but Polycystinea include some colonial forms. Single cells vary in size from below 40 µm to almost 2 mm (Phaeodaria are usually larger than Polycystinea), but colonies may exceptionally be as long as 3 m (Swanberg 1979).

Occurrence

Radiolarians are present in all major oceans but absent from some marginal seas, such as the White Sea (Bjørklund and Kruglikova 2003). Different species have different depth preferences; polycystines usually peak in abundance between 0 and 100 m and have secondary peaks at various other depths, whereas phaeodarians tend to live deeper, often below 300 m. Both groups are almost entirely restricted to waters with normal open-ocean salinity levels.



Fig. 1 Schematic diagram of the cellular organization in polycystine radiolarians (Spumellaria and Nassellaria) and phaeodarians. Detail (magnifying glass) shows web-like network of cytoplasmic strands supported by the axopodia and associated symbionts

Literature

The cornerstone of radiolarian studies, including Phaeodaria, is Haeckel's 1887 monograph based on planktonic and sedimentary materials collected by the Challenger Expedition (Haeckel 1887). Kling (1978), Anderson (1983), Petrushevskaya (1986), Anderson et al. (2000), Takahashi and Anderson (2000), De Wever et al. (2001), Afanasieva et al. (2005), Boltovskoy and Pujana (2008), and Nakamura and Suzuki (2015) produced general accounts on radiolarian knowledge. The catalogue assembled by Nigrini and Moore (1979) is still one of the most widely used references for the identification and distribution of the ca. 100 most common recent polycystine species. Other salient references are the works of Petrushevskaya (1967, 1971b) (profusely illustrated descriptions of practically all extant nassellarians and all Antarctic spumellarians); Sanfilippo et al. (1985) (a detailed guide for Cenozoic stratigraphy based on polycystines); Riedel and Foreman (1995) (a catalogue of all the polycystine species described up to 1930); and Boltovskoy et al. (2010) (a compilation of all the distributional data available on Recent polycystines up to 2008).

History of Knowledge

The first description of a living radiolarian is ascribed to Meyen (1834), whereas the first fossil one was recorded by Ehrenberg (1838), who also coined the term "Polycystina". The name "Radiolaria" was first proposed by Müller (1858) to designate planktonic protists with radiating skeletal elements and subsequently used by Haeckel as an informal term encompassing acantharians, polycystines, and phaeodarians (De Wever et al. 2001). The foundation of modern radiolarian studies is Haeckel's (1887) exquisitely illustrated monograph; around the same years several important publications were produced, but interest in the group was limited until the 1950s, when William Riedel and coworkers showed that polycystines could be used for stratigraphic purposes. First stratigraphy, and later paleoecology, fostered radiolarian research, which was particularly active in the 1970s and 1980s (Lazarus 2005; Suzuki and Aita 2011). At present there are about 150–200 specialists that are partially or entirely dedicated to radiolarian studies, over 90% of them with geological-paleontological backgrounds and centered on fossil materials. However, with the advent of modern biological techniques such as electron microscopy and molecular phylogenetic analyses, an increasing number of biologists have begun to elucidate the natural affinities among major groups of radiolaria toward clarifying their taxonomic relations (e.g., Amaral Zettler et al. 1998, 1999; Anderson et al. 1999; Biard et al. 2015; López-García et al. 2002; Polet et al. 2004; Suzuki and Aita 2011).

Practical Importance

During the second half of the twentieth century, studies of polycystines from continuous, well-preserved, mostly Cenozoic sections retrieved by the Deep Sea Drilling Project (later Ocean Drilling Program, now the Intergrated Ocean Drilling Program) proved the usefulness of these organisms for stratigraphic purposes. By the mid-1970s, a relatively stable tropical zonation had been developed for the Cenozoic (Sanfilippo et al. 1985), and somewhat later several schemes for the polar oceans were proposed (Lazarus 2005). Polycystines are particularly important in Neogene Polar sediments and in red clay bottoms, where carbonate microfossils are largely absent. Polycystine faunas have also been instrumental to the development of paleoenvironmental studies (paleotemperature, paleoceanography, and paleoproductivity), chiefly of open-ocean areas (CLIMAP 1976). Polycystines offer major advantages as material for evolution research: the preservation of almost all species in fossil form, high-resolution chronology, the possibility to sample the entire geographic and chronologic span of the populations, etc. Evolutionary studies of these organisms, in particular speciation and phyletic evolution, have made significant contributions to understanding evolutionary processes in pelagic animals in general. A major limitation in the use of polycystines in all these fields is the problematic species-level taxonomy of the group (Lazarus et al. 2015).

Habitats and Ecology

Geographic Distribution and Biogeography

Horizontal distribution and biogeography. Radiolarians are present in all oceans from the surface to bathypelagic depths, but, with the only known exception of Lophophaena rioplatensis, which thrives in the brackish waters of the Río de la Plata estuary at salinities as low as 15.4 PSU (Boltovskoy et al. 2003), they do not tolerate salinities below ca. 30 PSU and are therefore absent from most shelf areas and many inner and marginal seas (e.g., Black Sea, Azov Sea, Caspian Sea, White Sea, Baltic Sea). However, in areas with a narrow shelf where oceanic waters impinge on the shore (e.g. off California, in Norwegian fjords), radiolarians can be collected from the coast. Polycystine densities are usually around 1 cell per liter of water, whereas phaeodarians are normally 15–100 times less abundant (Boltovskoy et al. 1993). Productive, upwelling waters can host 5-10 and up to 70-80 cells/L (Caron and Swanberg 1990). Interestingly, the highest concentrations so far reported (394 cells/L) are those of the monospecific, brackish population of Lophophaena rioplatensis in the South American Río de la Plata estuary (Boltovskoy et al. 2003). Polycystine endemicity is generally low, as specific composition changes little with oceanic basin. Even the Arctic and the Antarctic share most of their species (Stepanjants et al. 2004). According to data from 4774 plankton, sediment trap and surface sediment samples compiled by (Boltovskoy et al. 2010), only Artobotrys borealis consistently occurs in Arctic and Subarctic waters and has not been recorded in the Antarctic or Subantarctic, but several species are here much more common and abundant than in cold waters of the Southern Hemisphere (Amphimelissa setosa, Artostrobus annulatus, Artostrobus jorgenseni, Lithomelissa setosa, Phormacantha hystrix, Plectacantha oikiskos, Pseudocubus obeliscus, Rhizoplegma boreale, Saccospyris conithorax, and Siphocampe lineata) (Boltovskoy and Correa 2016a). Species probably restricted to – or at least much more abundant in - the Southern Ocean, include Actinomma antarcticum, Antarctissa denticulata-strelkovi, Saccospvris antarctica, and Triceraspyris antarctica (Boltovskoy and Correa 2016a). The other major oceanic climatic belts, defined chiefly by their different water temperature regimes, host dissimilar radiolarian assemblages (Fig. 2), but most of the species occur, albeit sparsely, in more than one area. Within the ranges of normal oceanic conditions (basically salinity), temperature is by far the most important factor in defining polycystine distribution patterns (Boltovskoy and Correa 2016a), followed by nutrients and primary productivity. At ocean basin scales, temperature is also most probably responsible for the fact that polycystine assemblages off the Pacific coasts of Central America differ from the tropical-subtropical ones elsewhere (Fig. 2). In contrast to many openocean organisms, whose diversity has been reported to peak at intermediate latitudes (~15–30°N) and drop at the equator (e.g., Foraminifera, Tintinnina, Euphausiacea, and Copepoda), polycystine species numbers are tightly coupled with temperature throughout the entire thermal range of marine waters peaking at the equator (Fig. 3; Boltovskov and Correa 2016b). In high-latitude assemblages, numerical dominance of a few species is very high, with 1–2 radiolarians often accounting for up to 90% of all the individuals (e.g., Amphimelissa setosa in the Atlantic sector of the Arctic and Antarctissa denticulata-strelkovi in the Southern Ocean). In warm waters, dominance is much less marked, the most abundant species normally accounting for <5% of the overall inventories in each sample. Throughout the World Ocean, occurrence and abundance of the species are highly correlated: radiolarians recorded in more samples also account for larger proportions of the taxocoenoses analyzed.

Phaeodarian biogeography is still very insufficiently known, but the scarce available evidences suggest that their world-wide patterns are less clearly associated with latitudinal climatic belts. This may be due to the fact that many phaeodarian species are deep-living forms, especially in warm water areas (Nakamura and Suzuki 2015; see below) that inhabit large areas where water temperature is more uniform (Fig. 4).

Vertical distribution. In tropical and subtropical waters polycystines are usually concentrated in the upper 50–100 m (Boltovskoy et al. 2010). Sometimes several discrete maxima are recorded, one at or near the surface and a second one between 50 and 100 m (Kling and Boltovskoy 1995) (Fig. 5). In polar waters, however, peak abundances seem to be associated with deeper and warmer layers, at around 200–400 m and overall polycystine abundances are much lower than in the tropics (Boltovskoy and Alder 1992; Nimmergut and Abelmann 2002; Petrushevskaya 1967) (Fig. 5).

The vertical ranges of most polycystines can be described by the following four patterns: (1) surface (with at least one peak above 100 m), (2) subsurface (around 100 m), (3) intermediate (between 100 and 300 m), and (4) deep (below 300 m) (Fig. 6) (Boltovskoy et al. 2010; Kling 1979; Kling and Boltovskoy 1995). However, worldwide depth zonations cannot be defined in terms of fixed depths because the distribution of radiolarian species is related to water masses which move vertically as well as horizontally. As a result, the same radiolarian species can occupy quite different depth intervals at different locations (Kling 1976). Many cold water radiolarians that



Fig. 2 Biogeographic regions of the World Ocean based on the distribution of polycystines in surface sediments and their most representative species (very few of these are restricted to the provinces indicated) (Simplified from Boltovskoy and Correa (2016a))



Fig. 3 Numbers of polycystine species, specific diversity (Shannon-Wiener log base 2), and sea surface temperature (SST) in the World Ocean as a function of latitude (pooled data for 5° intervals, 3-point running means, interpolated values are asterisked). Lower panel shows positions of the 2081 water column (plankton and sediment trap) samples used (*diamond symbols* in upper panel). Radiolarian data are based on compilation by Boltovskoy et al. (2010). Temperature curve is representative of mean SST values at the sampling sites involved only (rather than world-wide) (SST data are from Boyer et al. (2013))

inhabit the upper layers at high latitudes submerge with their corresponding water masses and can be found at depth in mid- and low-latitude areas (Boltovskoy 1988; Boltovskoy and Correa 2016b; Casey et al. 1982; Kling 1976).

Vertical changes in radiolarian diversity are more difficult to assess because the living (in situ populations) and dead individuals (i.e., settling shells exported from the upper strata) are seldom adequately differentiated in plankton collections. It is highly probable that protoplasm staining techniques, which are usually applied for these estimates, strongly overestimate the living depth ranges of the species because of the time it takes for the protists' protoplasm to decompose and disappear



Fig. 4 Biogeographic zonation of the World Ocean based on deep-water Phaeodaria (Redrawn from Reshetnjak (1966))



Fig. 5 Vertical profiles of radiolarian abundance in warm water and in cold water areas. Values for Polycystina are based on pooled data from 20 published surveys and our unpublished information from 1145 plankton samples. Values for Phaeodaria are from Gowing (1986) (28°N, North Pacific Central Gyre, sediment trap samples, living specimens only), and from Nothig and Gowing (1991) (Weddell Sea, plankton samples, phaeodarians >0.4 mm only). Notice differences in scales and units







(Bernhard 1988). The widespread occurrence of large numbers of healthy diatoms, dinoflagellates, and Cyanobacteria at depth >4000 m (Agusti et al. 2015) confirms the assumption that radiolarian sedimentation velocities are fast enough to yield large proportions of stained individuals well below their living depth range. Thus, raw data often show little species richness variation with depth (Fig. 7, left panel). On the other hand, when raw numbers are reinterpreted taking this artifact into account, highest diversities are clearly associated with the uppermost levels (Fig. 7, right panel).

Unlike most other sarcodines, phaeodarians are typically deep-water organisms usually peaking in both abundance and diversity below 200 m (Nakamura and Suzuki 2015), although high concentrations near the surface are not uncommon (Fig. 5). A detailed depth zonation for the area of the Kurile-Kamchatka trench was produced by Reshetnjak (1955, 1966). She concluded that only two (of the 103 species recorded) inhabit the upper 50 m; approximately 30 more have restricted vertical ranges at various depths, while over 50% of the taxa were retrieved from the broad depth interval of 50 to 2000–8000 m. These vertical patterns at a given locale, however, may change significantly because of the dynamics of deep ocean circulation, with species exhibiting quite variable depth ranges over oceanic distances. Vertical profiles in the North Pacific (Kling 1966, 1976) illustrate that species dwelling in near surface water (25 m depth) at high latitudes, are distributed gradually toward lower depths in decreasing latitudes, and dwell at depths

>300 m closer to the equator. Thus, as with the polycystines, depth distributions of phaeodarians on regional scales are not describable in terms of fixed ranges.

Equatorward submergence may account for so-called bipolar distributional patterns characteristic of many radiolarians. High-latitude species could pass under equatorial waters via the Intermediate Water or the Deep Water, to reappear near the surface in the opposite polar or subpolar seas where the adequately colder water temperatures support their growth (Aita et al. 2009; Stepanjants et al. 2006). In the Pacific Ocean, the Intermediate Water circulates in anti-cyclonic gyres that mimic the surface circulation (Reid 1965), thus providing continuity for the water masses and their biological contents. Such bipolar patterns have been described for a number of zooplanktonic species in both the Atlantic (Darling et al. 2000; Pierrot-Bults 1974) and the Pacific Ocean (Alvariño 1965), whereby the north and south polar or subpolar near-surface populations are joined at depths of 800–1000 m across the equator. The fact that these apparently disjoint populations interbreed through their deep-water, tropical and subtropical representatives has been suggested for some protists (Darling et al. 2000).

Radiolarian studies based on sedimentary materials. Because their skeletons preserve in the geological record, studies of extant polycystines have been chiefly based on sedimentary – rather than on planktonic – samples (phaeodarian skeletons very seldom preserve in the sediments). Sediment samples present some advantages but also several important shortcomings (Fig. 8) (Boltovskoy 1994). Whereas polycystine abundances seldom exceed 5 cells per liter in the plankton (Caron and Swanberg 1990), one gram of surface sediments can contain thousands to hundreds of thousands of radiolarian skeletons. Plankton samples yield a snapshot-type image of the composition of the assemblages, which does not necessarily adequately reflect long-term trends. The daily, seasonal, and interannual variability involved is



Fig. 8 Schematic diagram of the mechanisms that can distort the sedimentary imprint of the planktonic pattern of fossilizable microplankton in general, and of polycystine radiolarians in particular

smoothed out in the sedimentary record, which may be a welcome trait when general patterns are sought. Further, sedimentary materials are more readily available from the various repositories around the globe than plankton samples. On the other hand, interpretation of the geographic distribution of extant radiolarians on the basis of sediment samples presents several important drawbacks. On their way to the sea-floor and after settling, radiolarian remains dissolve and are grazed upon by various consumers thus breaking their skeletons into unidentifiable fragments. Because more delicate shells are destroyed more readily than the more robust ones, specific skeletal compositions on the bottom and at mid-depths can differ significantly from the living assemblage in the upper water-column. Bottom materials can be reworked after deposition (as a result of which non-Recent deposits, sometimes characteristic of quite dissimilar oceanographic settings, are brought up to the surface layer, or winnowed by bottom currents dislodging settled skeletons and carrying them thousands of kilometers away). Sediments integrate the imprint of near-surface faunas (which are generally associated with surficial environmental traits, as well as with currents and water masses), with the meso- and bathypelagic species whose geographic distribution is uncoupled with upper-water oceanography. The sedimentary distributions of cold-water species tend to show conspicuous equatorward extensions as compared with their planktonic patterns. This distortion is most probably due to the fact that extended survival of the cold water taxa that are expatriated towards lower latitudes is facilitated by submersion (Boltovskoy 1988, 1994; Boltovskov and Correa 2016a); as a consequence, sediment-derived speciesspecific ranges may wrongly suggest an enhanced tolerance to gradients in the ecological factors.

Characterization and Recognition

Cell Ultrastructure

Cellular Organization. In broad view, three categories of pseudopod-producing protoctista (including amoebae, Foraminifera and Radiolaria) have been described based on cellular ultrastructure (Anderson 1983): (1) Diffuse, e.g., the naked amoebae without enclosing shells or thecae and a flowing, changeable cell shape, (2) Transitional, including the testate amoebae and foraminifera with a surrounding theca or shell that demarcates a more condensed cytoplasm internally from the web-like, pseudopodial array externally, and (3) Zonal, exemplified by the polycystine Radiolaria with a distinctive porous capsule wall that separates the central, sometimes lobate, intracapsular cytoplasm from the outer, extracapsular, layer of cytoplasm where prey is captured and digested. Interestingly, the Phaeodaria are categorized as transitional since they have a "capsule" with at least one large opening through which the endoplasm protrudes into the ectoplasm, similar to that of testate amoebae. Molecular genetic evidence indicates that Phaeodaria are closely related to testate amoebae within the group Cercozoa (Yuasa et al. 2006) (see below). The

chemical composition of the siliceous skeleton and the test-like capsular wall of Phaeodaria also are similar to that of testate amoebae.

Polycystine Radiolaria. The polycystine Radiolaria include the Spumellaria and Nassellaria (See Systematics). The Spumellaria have a spherical body plan with a centrally located nucleus surrounded by radially arranged lobes of cytoplasm, enclosed by a porous capsular wall (Figs. 1 and 9a, b), (Anderson 1980, 1983; Hollande et al. 1971). Axopodia emanate through pores (fusules) in the capsular wall and protrude radially (Cachon and Cachon 1976a, b). The axopodia support a web-like network of cytoplasmic strands that are sticky and aid in the capture of prey. The external cytoplasm encloses or coats the siliceous skeleton, when present. The Nassellaria have a monoaxial body plan (Anderson 1977), typically an elongated, ovoid, central capsule with a porous plate at the base where the axopodia emerge through closely spaced fusules (Fig. 9c, d). Shafts of microtubules in the axopodia emerge from a conical array of microtubules (podoconus) within the intracapsular cytoplasm (arrow, Fig. 10). Skeletons vary from simple tripods to elaborate, helmet-shaped structures, often with spines or other ornamentation (e.g., Figs. 9c, d and 11). The extracapsular cytoplasm coats the siliceous skeleton, when present, and extends outward as a halo of axopodia and their associated network of rhizopodia, including fine, tapered extensions known as filopodia that are present in Nassellaria and Spumellaria (Fig. 1). In polycystines, digested prey products are transported in small vesicles through the fusules into the intracapsular cytoplasm (Anderson 1977).

Phaeodaria. The ultrastructure of Phaeodaria is distinctly different from the polycystines. The "capsular wall" surrounding the denser endoplasm lacks fusules. There is one large opening (astropyle) containing an emergent massive strand of cytoplasm and two smaller openings (parapylae) with finer strands of cytoplasm (Fig. 9e, f). A large, often darkly colored, mass of partially digested food (phaeodium) is typically located external to the capsule near the astropyle (Figs. 1 and 9e). The continuous, massive strand of cytoplasm in the astropyle provides a pathway for digested prey matter to be carried into the endoplasm as occurs with some testate amoebae and foraminifera (Anderson 1983; Swanberg et al. 1986).

The Skeleton

The skeleton of polycystine Radiolaria, when present, is composed of amorphous silica and is deposited outside of the cytoplasm, but within an enclosing cytoplasmic sheath called the cytokalymma (Anderson 1983). The cytokalymma is a dynamic, living sheath that molds the shape of the silica deposited within it as silicification takes place during skeletal growth. Thus, the species-specific shape of the skeleton is determined by cellular dynamics and undoubtedly is under genetic control. Skeletal morphology is remarkably diverse (Anderson et al. 2000), but species specific.

The two major divisions of the Polycystinea, Spumellaria and Nassellaria, differ in the symmetry of their skeletons. Most spumellarians have a radial or spherical



Fig. 9 Comparative morphology and cellular organization of Spumellaria (a, b), Nassellaria (c, d), and Phaeodaria (e, f). (a) A living spumellarian with radiating siliceous spines (Sp) and a halo of axopodia (Ax) surrounding the cell. (b) A diagram of the cellular organization of a spumellarian showing the centrally located nucleus (N) surrounded by radial lobes of cytoplasm that extend as cytoplasmic strands through pores (fusules) in the dense capsular wall and produce an extracapsular

Fig. 10 A transmission electron micrograph of the lower portion of a Nassellarian central capsule showing the shafts of microtubules in the conical podoconus (Arrow) that extend from the intracapsular cytoplasm through the porelike fusules (F) in the capsular wall and protrude outward as axopodia surrounding the cell. Algal symbionts (Sy) are scattered in the peripheral axopodial array (Adapted from Anderson (1983))



symmetry, whereas in nassellarians the body plan usually includes an anteroposterior axis. Figure 11 shows a characteristic, spherical spumellarian whose skeleton comprises several concentric shells. Growth in spumellarians starts with the first, innermost shell and proceeds centrifugally. Nassellarian shells often comprise several sections aligned along an axis. Shell growth starts with the inner, often tripodal, skeleton located inside the first section, or cephalis, and proceeds along the axis to form the thorax, the abdomen, and the postabdominal segments (when present). The wealth of skeletal shapes and morphologies is, however, very ample, including simple spines arranged as a tripod, porous, helmet-shaped skeletons, porous spherical shells, single or multiple concentric geodesic shells composed of rod-like elements joined at nodes in a framework (with or without radially arranged spines), spongiose shells of varied shapes ranging from flattened discs to spheres, and a myriad of other forms, some with ideal geometric shapes (e.g., regular icosahedrons,

Fig. 9 (continued) layer of cytoplasm within a network of rhizopodia. (c) A living small nassellarian showing the siliceous skeleton (Sk) forming a conical porous shell (cephalis) surrounding the ovate central capsule. Algal symbionts (Sy) are distributed within the extracapsular rhizopodial network. (d) A diagram of the nassellarian cephalis, and a cut-away view of the central capsule showing the nucleus (N) and conical array of microtubules, forming the podoconus (Pd), that extend out of the central capsule as axopodia through the aperture (Ap) at the base of the cephalis. See also Fig. 9. (e) A living phaeodarian showing the geodesic siliceous skeletal framework (Sk) surrounding a network of rhizopodia that emerge from a dense central capsule (CC) and the morphology of the central capsule (inset) with a major cytoplasmic strand (astropyle) emerging at the base and two smaller cytoplasmic strands (parapylae) emerging at the opposite pole. (f) A diagram of a section of the base of a phaeodarian central capsule showing the emergence of the massive astropyle (As) and smaller parapylae (Pa) projecting outward through openings in the capsular wall (Adapted from Anderson (1983) and J. Cachon et al. (1990))



Fig. 11 Scheme of the skeletal elements of the shell of a typical Spumellaria and Nassellaria (Adapted from Boltovskoy and Correa (2014))

dodecahedrons, and octahedrons; Fig. 12) not found in any other living organism (Afanasieva 2006, 2007; Anderson 1983).

The skeleton of Phaeodaria is also composed of amorphous silica but may contain more organic matter than polycystines. The skeletal framework in some species is composed of hollow tubes (e.g., Fig. 9e), not solid rods as in the polycystines. Other species of Phaeodaria have ornate spicules scattered in the external cytoplasm or shells that are either bivalved, resembling small clams or vase-like to pouch-shaped with ornate protuberances around the opening (Fig. 13). Other species have only much branched antler-like spines protruding from a central shell (Fig. 13) (Takahashi and Anderson 2000). However, overall, porous microstructures and basic tubular ultrastructures appear to be common in most of the taxa examined in plankton and sedimentary trap samples from several open ocean locations (Takahashi and Hurd 2007).



Fig. 12 Representative examples of polycystine species (figures are not to scale)

Feeding, Symbionts, Necrotrophs, and Predators

Feeding. Considerably more is known about the feeding behavior of polycystine Radiolaria compared to Phaeodaria, although our knowledge is still rather limited. Polycystines consume a wide variety of prey including bacteria, algae, protozoa, and microinvertebrates such as copepods and small larvae of marine arthropods. In a rather extensive study of prey observed in SCUBA-collected radiolaria from epipe-lagic plankton, Swanberg and Caron (1991) noted that a relatively small proportion of captured radiolaria possessed prey (46%), but there was a wide variety of prey consumed including diatoms, tintinnids, and more frequently copepods and their nauplii, or mollusc larvae. Smaller radiolarian species prey largely on bacteria and algae, whereas larger radiolaria also consume small invertebrates (Anderson 1983, 1996; Caron and Swanberg 1990).



Fig. 13 Representative examples of phaeodarian species (figures are not to scale)

The algal and protozoan prey become snared on the sticky surface of the axopodial array and is engulfed by invagination of the surface membrane to form an intracytoplasmic food vacuole. The food vacuole is converted to a digestive vacuole by secretion of digestive enzymes (Anderson 1996). A much more elaborate mechanism of predation occurs when small arthropods, such as copepods, are consumed (Anderson 1978). The prey becomes entangled within the axopodia and associated rhizopodial network. Eventually, it is surrounded by the rhizopodia that penetrate through weak zones of the prey exoskeleton. Once inside of the host body, the rhizopodia engulf large segments of prey tissue, enclosing them within digestive vacuoles that are carried by cytoplasmic streaming out of the host into the radiolarian

cytoplasm near the central capsule. Small vesicles containing the digestive products are transported through the fusules into the intracapsular cytoplasm where food reserves are stored and major metabolic activities take place. Vacuoles containing undigested, waste material are eventually ejected from the axopodial array by cytoplasmic streaming (Anderson 1983). Among the limited evidence of phaeodarian predation, Swanberg et al. (1986) reported that a mesopelagic, coelographic phaeodarian contained microflagellate and metazoan prey. Copepods and salps also were snared when introduced in the laboratory cultures.

Symbionts. A wide variety of symbionts are sequestered within vacuoles (symbiosomes) including algae and photosynthetic cyanobacteria (Bråte et al. 2012; Probert et al. 2014; Yuasa et al. 2012). Algal symbionts include dinoflagellates (golden yellow), prasinophytes (yellow green), and prymnesiophytes (tawny brown) (Anderson 1978; M. Cachon and Caram 1979; Hollande and Carré 1974). Algal symbionts are highly productive photosynthetically, fixing more carbon than primary producers in an equivalent volume of the surrounding seawater of the Sargasso Sea (Caron et al. 1995). A similar assessment was reported in earlier studies by Khmeleva (1967) in the Red Sea and Gulf of Aden. The symbionts any provide substantial nourishment to the host. Cytochemical and ¹⁴C isotopic tracer studies have shown that the symbionts release organic nutrients that are assimilated by the host and that the host occasionally digests some of them by secretion of enzymes within the normally benign symbiosome vacuoles (Anderson 1983).

Necrotrophs. Dinoflagellate necrotrophs (e.g., Meriodinium brandti) infect some species of spumellaria, including colonial radiolaria. M. brandti invades the nucleus where it forms a plasmodium (Anderson 1983; Hollande 1974; Hollande and Enjumet 1953). Eventually, the Meriodinium nuclei divide profusely leading to necrosis of the radiolarian nucleus. The parasite nuclei become segregated from the plasmodial mass to form swarmers with undulipodia and typical dinoflagellate morphology including an epicone and hypocone. They escape from the host to initiate another infective cycle. In other species of *Meriodinium*, the initial proliferation in the nucleus is followed by release of plasmodial fragments that invade the intracapsular cytoplasm and eventually release motile infective swarmers with dinoflagellate features. The large, skeletonless radiolarian, characteristic Thalassicolla sp., is parasitized by Solenodinium fallax. This dinoflagellate invades the nucleus, forms a plasmodium, and produces tubular inclusions that subsequently emerge from the disintegrating nucleus and protrude into the surrounding intracapsular cytoplasm. The tubules eventually give rise to numerous infective swarmers with typical dinoflagellate morphology. Necrotrophs also have been reported in Phaeodaria, including Syndinium nucleophaga (Cachon-Enjumet 1961; Hovasse 1923).

Predators. Our knowledge of radiolarian predators is very limited, but based on digestive tract samples from diverse geographic locations, radiolaria have been detected in tunicates (e.g., salps), crustacea such as copepods, euphausids, and in certain penaeidae, among others. There is some evidence that planktonic

foraminifera prey occasionally on radiolaria. Amphipods have been reported invading and ingesting cells of colonial radiolaria (Swanberg 1979). However, much more detailed analyses of the digestive tract contents of freshly collected predators is needed to verify predatory pressures on radiolaria.

Reproduction, Growth and Longevity

Reproduction. Reproduction in Polycystinea and Phaeodaria has been observed in laboratory cultures. Collodarian Radiolaria (e.g., some colonial Radiolaria) reproduce by binary fission of the central capsules. Sexual reproduction of Polycystinea or Phaeodaria has not been confirmed, but numerous instances of the release of motile swarmers, likely gametes, bearing two undulipodia have been documented (Anderson 1983; Kimoto et al. 2011). Among polycystines, impending reproduction is signaled by contraction of the extracapsular cytoplasm and jettisoning of symbionts and waste matter. The nucleus undergoes repeated division, eventually filling the intracapsular cytoplasm. Each nucleus becomes segregated from the cytoplasmic mass as swarmers that escape through ruptures in the capsule wall. The fate of the swarmers is unknown. Syngamy (swarmer fusion) has not been observed (Anderson 1983; Cachon et al. 1973). Each swarmer contains a vacuolar-bound strontium sulfate (celestite) crystal (Anderson 1983; Hollande and Martoja 1974) enclosed by an organic envelope that appears to control the ultimate shape of the crystal (Anderson et al. 1990). In the phaeodarian Coelodendrum ramosissimum, reproduction begins with the disappearance of the phaeodium, followed by degeneration of the capsule and the appearance of small plasmodial spheres in the ectoplasm. Each of the spheres produces hundreds of polynucleated amoeboids that eventually form swarmers with two undulipodia (Borgert 1900, 1909; Cachon-Enjumet 1964).

Growth and Longevity. During the course of maturation, some skeletal-bearing species exhibit a "stair-step" pattern of growth, undergoing one to several days of silica deposition and increase in size followed by plateaus for several days before the next growth phase (Anderson et al. 1989). However, no predictable periodicity of silica deposition has been observed within a given species, and the stair-step curves are highly variable. Further research is needed to document patterns of growth among a wide variety of polycystines. Among the Polycystinea, two processes of skeletal growth and maturation appear to account for all examples of skeletal morphology: (1) Rim growth, commonly found in porous shells, with round to nearly round pores. The pores are formed by deposition of silica on the rims of larger pores that become increasingly smaller in diameter during maturation. (2) Bridge growth, producing geodesic frameworks and latticed shells that are formed by repeated production of rod like elements that grow from one node to another across an opening in the framework, thus producing a skeleton with increasingly more complex design, and in some cases increasingly smaller openings (Anderson 1983). Species with concentric spherical shells construct the innermost, small, primary shell first, typically by bridge growth. Spines elongate from the primary shell and provide scaffolding for the construction of successive larger surrounding shells, also by bridge growth. Some spongiose skeletal species deposit a small spherical, porous shell initially, followed by very fine bridge growth producing a surrounding meshwork of silica with the characteristic morphology of the species. The skeleton provides protection for the delicate cytoplasmic structures and also supports the axopodia and network of pseudopodial strands radiating from the central cell body, thus permitting efficient capture of prey, including invertebrates such as copepods that may be larger than the radiolarian (Anderson 1978).

Our knowledge of the longevity of radiolaria is limited. Evidence from laboratory maintenance cultures of radiolaria, and inferential data based on environmental observations of the periodic appearance of juvenile and adult stages of radiolarian species, indicates that they live for several weeks to several months before reproducing. Additional research is needed on comparative analyses of life spans of different species and also on the effects of environmental variables on longevity, such as abundance of prey, temperature, and other seasonal and biogeographic factors (Anderson 1983; Casey et al. 1970).

Systematics

Polycystinea. Haeckel (1887) produced one of the earliest comprehensive systems of radiolarian classification describing over 3000 polycystine species, ~2400 of which were new to science. Haeckel's work is still a necessary reference guide, but it does not satisfactorily represent natural relationships because groupings are only based on morphologic similarities, and because the rigidity of these geometry-based diagnoses often ignores the ample intraspecific variability of the radiolarians (Lazarus et al. 2015). Efforts to improve upon the classification schemes inherited from earlier workers have mainly followed two different approaches: cytological data and evolutionary studies. Several authors (Cachon and Cachon 1972a, b; Hollande and Enjumet 1960; Petrushevskaya 1981; Petrushevskaya et al. 1976) proposed revisions which rely heavily on cytoplasmic features, in particular the "nucleoaxopodial complex" (Petrushevskaya 1981). Although these schemes are probably sounder in biological terms, their application to fossil and subfossil materials lacking the protoplasm is problematic, which is one of the reasons for their very limited acceptance among radiolarian workers. Analyses of evolutionary lineages in geological sequences were used as a basis to assess the taxonomic value of key skeletal traits; it was concluded that many of them (e.g., number of segments, number of supplementary concentric spheres, number of feet, number of rays and of equatorial spines in discoidal Spumellaria, and presence and nature of thoracic wings) have little or no suprageneric value. In contrast, several others (especially cephalic structure, but also pore arrangement, shell terminations in Nassellaria, etc.), traditionally considered as of minor value, are conservative through time, reveal evolutionary lineages and, therefore, are relevant for higher-rank divisions (Riedel and Sanfilippo 1986). These results are at least partly in disagreement with the conclusions of the major review by De Wever et al. (2001), who based their classification scheme on the notion that "the farther the skeletal elements are from the first shell, or initial skeleton, the less important they are for higher level systematics." Riedel (1967, 1971); Petrushevskaya (1971a); (Petrushevskaya 1986); Goll (1968); (Goll 1969); Sanfilippo and Riedel (1970); Dumitrica (1989); De Wever et al. (2001) based on skeletal features alone worked out alternative classifications, either for the entire group or for selected parts of it. Of these, Riedel's (1967, 1971) suprageneric system has become the most widely accepted for extant and Cenozoic radiolarians and is the one adopted herewith with slight modifications. Classification of pre-Cenozoic polycystines follows De Wever et al. (2001).

Phaeodaria. The classification of this group proposed by Haeckel (1862, 1887) has been used by subsequent students with but minor additions. Generic assignments have been followed with few modifications, with the exception of some occasional revisions (Korsun 2011; Nakamura et al. 2015; Nakamura and Suzuki 2015; Reshetnjak 1966), but inconsistent usage (particularly among the family Challengeridae) persists into modern times (Kling and Boltovskoy 1999). The morphology of each family is so distinctive that there has been essentially no controversy as to their taxonomic identity, although lack of discrepancy is probably more a reflection of reduced interest and absence of new research, than of the quality of the information available.

Outline Classification

The classification outlined below incorporates the major higher-order categories defined on the basis of molecular phylogenetic studies, particularly the results of Adl et al. (2012). The classification outline proposed by these authors deliberately omits formal taxonomic categories; for the sake of clarity, we have included them (in parentheses, after the taxon name), as used in traditional classification systems. Adl's divisions within Polycystinea and Phaeodaria are practically identical to those of traditional taxonomy, which seems to be justified by the very scarce information available so far (Ishitani et al. 2012a, b). On the other hand, molecular results obtained with other planktonic protists (e.g., Foraminifera) (Darling and Wade 2008; De Vargas et al. 2004; Seears et al. 2012) suggest that many existing morphospecies include several genetically different organisms with more or less distinct distributional patterns. The few data on Polycystinea published in the last years support this assumption, suggesting that taxonomic assignments based on morphologic features often conflict with genetic molecular studies (Biard et al. 2015; Sierra et al. 2013) and that genetically defined units can differ both morphologically and distributionally (Ishitani et al. 2012b, 2014). It should be stressed that these results do not necessarily imply that traditional, morphological classifications are wrong and those based on molecular data are correct. While molecular studies are undoubtedly a very powerful tool for evolutionary and taxonomic investigations, as any other technique they have important limitations (Decelle et al. 2014). Among other limitations, the use of a single gene to decipher phylogenetic relationships may bias the results, and use of more than one gene often improves the analyses. However, the usefulness of molecular analyses as an additional tool is beyond doubt, not only for addressing taxonomic and phylogenetic issues, including conflicting identifications based on skeletal features (Yuasa et al. 2009), but also for addressing distributional, evolutionary and ecologic problems.

Rhizaria

Cercozoa

Thecofilosea

- Phaeodaria (=Tripylea) (Superorder) Siliceous skeleton, when present, may consist of scattered spicules or a well-developed meshwork, but skeletal rods are usually hollow and skeletal material is provided with an organic matrix. Skeletons rarely preserve in sediments. The central capsule normally with one large and two smaller pores. Around 400–500 extant species.
 - **Phaeoconchia** (Order) Skeleton formed by two symmetrical valves that can be large and conspicuous (family Concharidae) or small, internal, surrounded by an elaborate meshwork of tubes and spines (family Coelodendridae) (living representatives only, two families).
 - **Phaeocystina** (Order) Skeleton absent or formed by loose elements around the central capsule (living representatives only, four families).
 - **Phaeogromia** (Order) Skeleton, when present, represented by a globular or ovoidal solid structure with one large opening, often with one or more large radial spines. Very heterogeneous group (a few shelled forms known since the Eocene, 8 families).
 - **Phaeosphaeria** (Order) Skeleton usually represented by a large sphere with triangular meshes (living representatives only, 3 families).

Retaria

Acantharia (Subclass)

- **Polycystinea** (Subclass/Superorder) Usually endowed with a siliceous skeleton with solid bars. Cytoplasm divided into two regions: an inner endoplasm and an outer ectoplasm or calymma, separated by a perforated organic membrane, the central capsule. Probably around 400–800 extant species and several thousands of fossil forms.
 - **Collodaria** (Order) Solitary or colonial polycystines without a siliceous skeleton or provided with simple or branched spicules scattered in the calymma. (Eocene?-Holocene, four families, all with extant representatives).
 - Spumellaria (Order) Solitary or colonial (one family only: Collosphaeridae). Shell well developed, with radial symmetry or one derived from it (spiral, discoidal or lenticular biconvex, triaxonic, quadrangular, etc.) or asymmetric. Central capsule with many small pores (Paleozoic-Holocene, 37 families, eight with extant representatives).
 - **Nassellaria** (Order) Solitary. Shell represented by several fused spicules only, by a D-shaped ring and associated spines, or by more elaborate mono- or multilocular latticed skeletons. The symmetry of the shell is characterized by the fact that the two extremes of its major axis define two morphologically different poles (Devonian-Holocene, 54 families, seven with extant representatives).
 - Archaeospicularia, Albaillellaria, Latenfistularia, Entactiniaria (Orders) Fossil polycystines (Cambrian-Triassic, 37 families).

Evolutionary History

Polycystines possess some exceptional traits for their use in evolutionary studies: they appear very early – in the Lower Cambrian (Nazarov 1973; Obut and Iwata 2000), they preserve well in the geological record, they are highly diversified, and they are often very abundant. However, their potential is seriously hindered by the generally poor state of their taxonomy, which affects not only the species concept but also the definition of supraspecific categories and the taxonomic and evolutionary value of most morphologic traits. Thus, with the exception of a few well-researched Cenozoic lineages, our understanding of the evolution of the polycystines is still in an embryonic stage. Modern molecular phylogenetic research, in addition to clarifying the taxonomy of polycystines, has provided additional sources of evidence to trace their origins and divergences during the evolution of this group in relation to other taxa in the tree of life (Ishitani et al. 2012a; Sierra et al. 2013).

Although some authors have presented debatable evidence of links with benthic ancestors (Petrushevskaya 1986), the origin of radiolarians is uncertain. Until the Permian, their diversification was moderate, but in the Triassic, many new families appeared and from there on the number of extinctions was roughly balanced with that of new forms. For the Paleozoic, over 600 polycystine species (80 genera) have been described, suggesting a speciation rate of about 1-2 species per million years (Vishnevskaya and Kostyuchenko 2000). For the Mesozoic, this rate soars to over 10 species per million years; the total number of Mesozoic species described is around 2500 (Vishnevskaya and Kostyuchenko 2000), including the first multisegmented nassellarians, the appearance of twisted spines in spumellarians, etc. In agreement with most other organisms, polycystines show a strong diversity drop around the Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary, recovering in the Eocene (Sanfilippo et al. 1985; Vishnevskaya and Agarkov 1998). In the Cenozoic, the number of polycystine species varies around 400–800. The skeletons of these species are conspicuously lighter than those of most pre-Cenozoic forms, presumably due to the competition for dissolved silica with the diatoms (Lazarus et al. 2009). The longevity of most Cenozoic species ranges around 1-5 Ma (before going extinct or changing sufficiently to be identified as a different species) (Sanfilippo et al. 1985). Thus, despite the fact that polycystines represent potentially useful evolutionary and stratigraphic tools, taxonomic inconsistencies and the scarcity of specialists hinder their extensive use in these fields.

Maintenance and Cultivation

Continuous, reproducing cultures of radiolaria have not been established in the laboratory, probably due to the particular environmental requirements of the earliest growth stages. However, juvenile radiolaria that are collected by gentle drift tows using nets, or captured in hand-held small jars by SCUBA divers, can be maintained in laboratory culture (Anderson 1992). Individual radiolaria are retrieved from the sample using pipettes fitted with a rubber bulb and a tip with a large opening. The

radiolarian is gently deposited in glass culture dishes or small vials containing seawater, freshly collected from the sampling site. Symbiont-bearing species are illuminated by fluorescent lights and temperature is maintained by surrounding the dishes with recirculating water from a constant temperature bath set at a temperature equivalent to the sampling site. Algal cultures established in the laboratory, including planktonic diatoms, dinoflagellates, and other small protists, provide a source of protistan prey. Small droplets are introduced into the culture vessels, but only sparingly and at intervals of several days to avoid fouling the culture dishes with overgrowth. Small crustacea or young nauplii of brine shrimp (Artemia) reared in the laboratory are suitable additional prey for larger species. In some cases, the freshly collected, unfiltered, seawater from the sample site contains sufficient prey to sustain growth of illuminated radiolarian cultures if the seawater is replaced with freshly collected seawater every several days. No additional prey are required, especially if the cultures are illuminated. The larger radiolaria can be observed using a highpower dissecting microscope. Inverted microscopes with long-distance objective lenses can be used for more detailed visualization of smaller floating radiolaria, preferentially maintained in small culture vials with optically clear flat bottoms.

References

- Adl, S. M., Simpson, A. G., Lane, C. E., Lukeš, J., Bass, D., Bowser, S. S.,.., Spiegel, F. W. (2012). The revised classification of eukaryotes. *Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology*, 59(5), 429–493. doi:10.1111/j.1550-7408.2012.00644.x
- Afanasieva, M. S. (2006). Radiolarian skeletons: Formation and morphology of skeletal shells. *Paleontological Journal*, 40(5), 476–489. doi:10.1134/s0031030106050029.
- Afanasieva, M. S. (2007). Radiolarian skeleton: Morphology of spines, internal framework, and primary sphere. *Paleontological Journal*, 41(1), 1–14. doi:10.1134/s0031030107010017.
- Afanasieva, M. S., Amon, E. O., Agarkov, Y. V., & Boltovskoy, D. (2005). Radiolarians in the geological record. *Paleontological Journal*, 39, 135–340.
- Agusti, S., Gonzalez-Gordillo, J. I., Vaque, D., Estrada, M., Cerezo, M. I., Salazar, G., . . ., Duarte, C. M. (2015). Ubiquitous healthy diatoms in the deep sea confirm deep carbon injection by the biological pump. *Nature Communications*, *6*, 7608. doi:10.1038/ncomms8608.
- Aita, Y., Suzuki, N., Ogane, K., & Sakai, T. (2009). Bipolar distributions of recent and mesozoic radiolaria. *Fossils*, 85, 25–42.
- Alvariño, A. (1965). Chaetognaths. Oceanography and Marine Biology. Annual Review, 3, 115-194.
- Amaral Zettler, L. A., Anderson, O. R., & Caron, D. A. (1998). Insights on the diversity within a "species" of *Thalassicolla* (Spumellarida) based on 16S-like ribosomal RNA gene sequencing. *Journal of Eukariotic Microbiology*, 45(5), 488–496.
- Amaral Zettler, L. A., Anderson, O. R., & Caron, D. A. (1999). Towards a molecular phylogeny of colonial spumellarian radiolaria. *Marine Micropaleontology*, 36, 67–79.
- Anderson, O. R. (1977). Cytoplasmic fine structure of nassellarian Radiolaria. Marine Micropalaleontology, 2, 251–264.
- Anderson, O. R. (1978). Light and electron microscopic observations of feeding behavior, nutrition, and reproduction in laboratory cultures of *Thalassicolla nucleata* Huxley. *Tissue and Cell*, 10(3), 401–412.
- Anderson, O. R. (1980). Radiolaria. In M. Levandowsky & S. Hunter (Eds.), *Biochemistry and physiology of Protozoa* (pp. 1–40). New York: Academic.
- Anderson, O. R. (1983). Radiolaria. New York: Springer.

- Anderson, O. R. (1992). Laboratory maintenance cultures of planktonic foraminifera and radiolaria. In J. J. Lee & A. T. Soldo (Eds.), *Protocols in protozoology* (pp. A-35.31–A-35.39). Lawrence: Society of Protozoologists.
- Anderson, O. R. (1996). The physiological ecology of planktonic sarcodines with applications to paleoecology: Patterns in space and time. *Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology*, 43(4), 261–274.
- Anderson, O. R., Bennett, P., & Bryan, M. (1989). Experimental and observational studies of radiolarian physiological ecology: 1. Growth, abundance and opal production of the spongiose radiolatian *Spongaster tetras tetras. Marine Micropaleontology*, 14(4), 257–265.
- Anderson, O. R., Perry, C. C., & Hughes, N. P. (1990). Transmission and scanning electron microscopic evidence for cytoplasmatic deposition of strontium sulphate crystals in colonial radiolaria. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Ser. B*, 329, 81–86.
- Anderson, O. R., Gastrich, M. D., & Amaral Zettler, L. A. (1999). Fine structure of the colonial radiolarian *Collozoum serpentinum* (Polycystinea: Spumellaria) with a reconsideration of its taxonomic status and re-establishment of the genus *Collophidium* (Haeckel). *Marine Micropaleontology*, 36(2–3), 81–89.
- Anderson, O. R., Nigrini, C., Boltovskoy, D., Takahashi, K., & Swanberg, N. R. (2000). Class Polycystinea. In J. Lee (Ed.), *An illustrated guide to the Protozoa* (pp. 994–1022). Kansas: Society of Protozoologists.
- Bernhard, J. M. (1988). Postmortem vital staining in benthic foraminifera: Duration and importance in population and distributional studies. *Journal of Foraminiferal Research*, 18(2), 143–146.
- Biard, T., Pillet, L., Decelle, J., Poirier, C., Suzuki, N., & Not, F. (2015). Towards an integrative morpho-molecular classification of the collodaria (Polycystinea, Radiolaria). *Protist*, 166(3), 374–388. doi:10.1016/j.protis.2015.05.002.
- Bjørklund, K. R., & Kruglikova, S. B. (2003). Polycystine radiolarians in surface sediments in the Arctic Ocean basins and marginal seas. *Marine Micropaleontology*, 49(3), 231–273. doi:10.1016/s0377-8398(03)00036-7.
- Boltovskoy, D. (1988). Equatorward sedimentary shadows of near-surface oceanographic patterns. *Speculations in Science and Technology*, 11(3), 219–232.
- Boltovskoy, D. (1994). The sedimentary record of pelagic biogeography. Progress in Oceanography, 34(2–3), 135–160.
- Boltovskoy, D., & Alder, V. A. (1992). Paleoecological implications of radiolarian distribution and standing stocks vs. accumulation rates in the Weddell Sea. In J. P. Kennett & D. A. Warnke (Eds.), *The Antarctic paleoenvironment: A perspective on global change* (pp. 377–384). Washington, DC: American Geophysical Union.
- Boltovskoy, D., & Correa, N. (2014). Radiolaria (Acantharia, Polycystina y Phaeodaria). In J. Calcagno (Ed.), *Los invertebrados marinos* (pp. 35–47). Buenos Aires: Fundación de Historia Natural Félix de Azara.
- Boltovskoy, D., & Correa, N. (2016a). Biogeography of Radiolaria Polycystina (Protista) in the World ocean. *Progress in Oceanography*, 149, 82–105.
- Boltovskoy, D., & Correa, N. (2016b). Planktonic equatorial diversity troughs: fact or artifact? Latitudinal diversity gradients in Radiolaria. *Ecology*. doi:10.1002/ecy.1623.
- Boltovskoy, D., & Pujana, I. (2008). Radiolaria-. In H. Camacho (Ed.), *Invertebrados fósiles* (pp. 111–132). Buenos Aires: Fundación de Historia Natural Félix de Azara, Universidad Maimónides.
- Boltovskoy, D., Alder, V. A., & Abelmann, A. (1993). Annual flux of Radiolaria and other shelled plankters in the eastern equatorial Atlantic at 853 m: Seasonal variations and polycystine speciesspecific responses. *Deep-Sea Research*, 40(9), 1863–1895. doi:10.1016/0967-0637(93)90036-3.
- Boltovskoy, D., Kogan, M., Alder, V. A., & Mianzan, H. (2003). First record of a brackish radiolarian (Polycystina): Lophophaena rioplatensis n. sp. in the Río de la Plata estuary. *Journal* of *Plankton Research*, 25(12), 1551–1559.
- Boltovskoy, D., Kling, S. A., Takahashi, K., & Bjørklund, K. (2010). World atlas of distribution of recent Polycystina (Radiolaria). *Palaeontologia Electronica*, 13, 1–229.

- Borgert, A. (1900). Untersuchungen über die Fortpflanzung der tripyleen Radiolarien, speziell von Aulacantha scolymantha H. Tiel I. Zoologische Jahrbüchen, 14, 203–276.
- Borgert, A. (1909). Untersuchungen über die Fortpflanzung der Tripyleen Radiolarien speziell von Aulacantha scolymantha. Teil II. Archiv für Protistenkunde, 14, 134–263.
- Boyer, T. P., Antonov, J. I., Baranova, O. K., Coleman, C., Garcia, H. E., Grodsky, A., ..., Zweng, M. M. (2013). World Ocean Database 2013. Retrieved from Silver Spring.
- Bråte, J., Krabberød, A. K., Dolven, J. K., Ose, R. F., Kristensen, T., Bjørklund, K. R., & Shalchian-Tabrizi, K. (2012). Radiolaria associated with large diversity of marine alveolates. *Protist*, 163(5), 767–777. doi:10.1016/j.protis.2012.04.004.
- Cachon, J., & Cachon, M. (1972a). Le système axopodial des Radiolaires Sphaeroidiés I. Centroaxoplastidiés. Archiv für Protistenkunde, 114, 51–64.
- Cachon, J., & Cachon, M. (1972b). Le système axopodial des Radiolaires Sphaeroidiés II. Les Periaxoplastidiés III. Les cryptoaxoplastidiés (anaxoplastidiés) IV. Les fusules et le système rhéoplasmique. Archiv für Protistenkunde, 114, 291–307.
- Cachon, J., & Cachon, M. (1976a). Le système axopodial des Collodaires (Radiolaria Polycystines). I. Les Exo-axoplastidiés. Archiv für Protistenkunde, 118, 227–234.
- Cachon, J., & Cachon, M. (1976b). Les axopodes de Radiolaires dans leur partie libre ectoplasmique. Structure et fonction. Archiv für Protistenkunde, 118, 310–320.
- Cachon, M., & Caram, B. (1979). A symbiotic green alga, *Pedinomonas symbiotica*, in the radiolarian *Thalassolampe margarodes*. *Phycologia*, 18(3), 177–184.
- Cachon, J., Cachon, M., & Lécher, P. (1973). Nouvelle interpretation de la division nucléaire de Phaeodariés. Comptes Rendus, Academie de Sciences, 276, 3311–3314.
- Cachon, J., Cachon, M., & Estep, K. W. (1990). Phylum Actinopoda. Classes Polycystina (=Radiolaria) and Phaeodaria. In L. Margulis, J. Corliss, M. Melkonian, & D. J. Chapman (Eds.), *Handbook of protoctista* (pp. 334–346). Boston: Jones and Bartlett.
- Cachon-Enjumet, M. (1961). La mécanique caryocinétique chez les Phaeodariés. Bulletin de l'Institute Oceanographique, Monaco, 1214.
- Cachon-Enjumet, M. (1964). L'évolution sporogénétique des phaeodaires. Comptes Rendus de l'Academie de Sciences, 259, 2677–2678.
- Caron, D. A., & Swanberg, N. R. (1990). The ecology of planktonic sarcodines. *Aquatic Sciences*, 3(2/3), 147–180.
- Caron, D. A., Michaels, A. F., Swanberg, N. R., & Howse, F. A. (1995). Primary productivity by symbiont-bearing planktonic sarcodines (Acantharia, Radiolaria, Foraminifera) in surface waters near Bermuda. *Journal of Plankton Research*, 17(1), 103–129.
- Casey, R. E., Partridge, T. M., & Sloan, J. R. (1970). Radiolarian life spans, mortality rates. and seasonality gained from recent sediment and plankton samples. In A. Farinacci (Ed.), *Proceedings of the second planktonic conference* (pp. 159–165). Roma: Tecnoscienza.
- Casey, R. E., Spaw, J. M., & Kunze, F. R. (1982). Polycystine radiolarian distributions and enhancements related to oceanographic conditions in a hypothetical ocean. *Transactions – Gulf Coast Association of Geological Societies*, 32, 319–332.
- CLIMAP. (1976). The surface of the ice-age earth. Quantitative geologic evidence is used to recontruct boundary conditions for the climate 18,000 years ago. *Science*, 191(4232), 1131–1144.
- Darling, K. F., & Wade, C. M. (2008). The genetic diversity of planktic foraminifera and the global distribution of ribosomal RNA genotypes. *Marine Micropaleontology*, 67(3–4), 216–238. doi:10.1016/j.marmicro.2008.01.009.
- Darling, K. F., Wade, C. M., Steward, I. A., Kroon, D., Dingle, R., & Brown, A. J. L. (2000). Molecular evidence for genetic mixing of Arctic and Antarctic subpolar populations of planktonic foraminifers. *Nature*, 405, 43–47.
- De Vargas, C., Sáez, A. G., Medlin, L. K., & Thierstein, H. R. (2004). Super-species in the calcareous plankton. In H. R. Thierstein & J. R. Young (Eds.), *Coccolithophores: from molecular processes to global impact* (pp. 251–298). Berlin/Heidelberg: Springer.

- De Wever, P., Dumitrica, P., Caulet, J., Nigrini, C., & Caridroit, M. (2001). *Radiolarians in the sedimentary record*. Amsterdam: Gordon and Breach.
- Decelle, J., Romac, S., Sasaki, E., Not, F., & Mahe, F. (2014). Intracellular diversity of the V4 and V9 regions of the 18S rRNA in marine protists (Radiolarians) assessed by high-throughput sequencing. *PloS One*, *9*(8), e104297. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0104297.
- Dumitrica, P. (1989). Internal skeletal structures of the superfamily Pyloniacea (Radiolaria), a basis of a new systematics. *Revista Española de Micropaleontología, 21*(2), 207–264.
- Ehrenberg, C. G. (1838). Über die Bildung der Kreidefelsen und des Kreidemergels durch unsichtbare Organismen. Königliche Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, Abhandlungen, Jahre, 1838, 59–147.
- Goll, R. M. (1968). Classification and phylogeny of Trissocyclidae (Radiolaria) in the Pacific and Caribbean Bassins. *Journal of Paleontology*, 42(6), 1409–1432.
- Goll, R. M. (1969). Classification and phylogeny of Trissocyclidae (Radiolaria) in the Pacific and Caribbean Bassins. Pt. II. *Journal of Paleontology*, 43(2), 322–339.
- Gowing, M. M. (1986). Trophic biology of phaeodarian radiolarians and flux of living radiolarians in the upper 2000 m of the North Pacific central gyre. *Deep-Sea Research*, 33(5), 655–674.
- Haeckel, E. (1862). Die Radiolarien (Rhizopoda Radiaria). Eine monographie. Berlin: Reimer.
- Haeckel, E. (1887). Report on Radiolaria collected by H.M.S. challenger during the years 1873–1876. Reports of the scientific results of the voyage of H.M.S. challenger 1873–76. Zoology (Vol. 18). London.
- Hollande, A. (1974). Données ultrastructurales sur les isospores des radiolaires. Protistologica, 10(4), 567–572.
- Hollande, A., & Carré, D. (1974). Les xanthelles des sphaerocollides, des acanthaires et de Vellela vellela: Infrastructure, cytochimie, taxonomie. Protistologica, 10(4), 573–601.
- Hollande, A., & Enjumet, M. (1953). Contribution a l'etude biologique des sphaerocollides (radiolaires collodaires et radiolaires polycyttaires) et des leurs parasites. Annales des Sciences Naturelles, Zoologie, 15(11), 99–183.
- Hollande, A., & Enjumet, M. (1960). Cytologie, évolution et systématique des Spharoidés (Radiolaires). Paris: Archives du Museum National d'Histoire Naturelle.
- Hollande, A., & Martoja, R. (1974). Identification du cristalloide des isospores de radiolaires a un cristal de célestite (SrSO₄) détermination de la constitution du cristalloide para voie cytochimique et a l'aide de la microsonde électronique et du microanalyseur par émission ionique secondaire. *Protistologica*, 10(4), 603–609.
- Hollande, A., Cachon, J., & Cachon, M. (1971). La signification de la membrane capsulaire des Radiolaires et ses rapports avec la plasmalemme et les membranes du reticulum endoplasmique. *Protistologica*, 6(3), 311–318.
- Hovasse, R. (1923). Les péridiniens intracellulaires zooxanthelles et *Syndinium* chez les radiolaires coloniaux. Remarques sur la reproduction des radiolaires. *Bulletin Societé Zoologique de France, 68*, 146
- Ishitani, Y., Ujiié, Y., de Vargas, C., Not, F., & Takahashi, K. (2012a). Phylogenetic relationships and evolutionary patterns of the order Collodaria (Radiolaria). *PloS One*, 7(5), e35775. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0035775.
- Ishitani, Y., Ujiié, Y., de Vargas, C., Not, F., & Takahashi, K. (2012b). Two distinct lineages in the radiolarian order Spumellaria having different ecological preferences. *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography*, 61–64, 172–178. doi:10.1016/j.dsr2.2011.12.005.
- Ishitani, Y., Ujiié, Y., & Takishita, K. (2014). Uncovering sibling species in Radiolaria: Evidence for ecological partitioning in a marine planktonic protist. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, 78, 215–222. doi:10.1016/j.ympev.2014.05.021.
- Khmeleva, N. N. (1967). Rol radiolyarii pri otzenke pervichnoi produktzii v Krasnom More i Adenskom zalive [Role of radiolarians in the evaluation of the primary production in the Red Sea and Gulf of Aden]. *Doklady Akademii Nauk SSSR, 172*(6), 1430–1433.

- Kimoto, K., Yuasa, T., & Takahashi, O. (2011). Molecular identification of reproductive cells released from *Cypassis irregularis* Nigrini (Radiolaria). *Environmental Microbiology Reports*, 3(1), 86–90. doi:10.1111/j.1758-2229.2010.00191.x.
- Kling, S. A. (1966). Castanellid and Circoporid radiolarians: Systematics and zoogeography in the eastern north Pacific. Ph.D., University of California, San Diego.
- Kling, S. A. (1976). Relation of radiolarian distribution to subsurface hydrography in the North Pacific. *Deep-Sea Research*, 23(11), 1043–1058.
- Kling, S. A. (1978). Radiolaria. In B. U. Haq & A. Boersma (Eds.), Introduction to marine micropaleontology (pp. 203–244). New York: Elsevier.
- Kling, S. A. (1979). Vertical distribution of polycystine radiolarians in the central North Pacific. *Marine Micropaleontology*, 4, 295–318. doi:10.1016/0377-8398(79)90022-7.
- Kling, S. A., & Boltovskoy, D. (1995). Radiolarian vertical distribution patterns across the southern California Current. Deep-Sea Research, 42(2), 191–231.
- Kling, S. A., & Boltovskoy, D. (1999). Radiolaria Phaeodaria. In D. Boltovskoy (Ed.), South Atlantic Zooplankton (pp. 213–264). Leiden: Backhuys Publishers.
- Korsun, S. A. (2011). Phaeodaria. In S. A. Karpov (Ed.), Protisty: Rukovodstvo po zoologii (Vol. 3, pp. 121–159). Saint Petersburg: Tovarischestvo Nauchnykh Izdanii KMK.
- Lazarus, D. B. (2005). A brief review of radiolarian research. Paläontologische Zeitschrift, 79(1), 183–200.
- Lazarus, D. B., Kotrc, B., Wulf, G., & Schmidt, D. N. (2009). Radiolarians decreased silicification as an evolutionary response to reduced Cenozoic ocean silica availability. *Proceeding of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(23), 9333–9338. doi:10.1073/pnas.0812979106.
- Lazarus, D. B., Suzuki, N., Caulet, J.-P., Nigrini, C., Goll, I., Goll, R., ..., Sanfilippo, A. (2015). An evaluated list of Cenozoic-Recent radiolarian species names (Polycystinea), based on those used in the DSDP, ODP and IODP deep-sea drilling programs. *Zootaxa*, 3999(3), 301–333. doi:10.11646/zootaxa.3999.3.1.
- López-García, P., Rodríguez-Valera, F., & Moreira, D. (2002). Toward the monophyly of Haeckel's Radiolaria: 18S rRNA environmental data support the sisterhood of Polycystinea and Acantharea. *Molecular Biology & Evolution*, 19(1), 118–121.
- Meyen, F. (1834). Beiträge zur Zoologie, gesammelt auf einer Reise um die Erde. Über das Leuchten des Meeres und Beschreibung einiger Polypen und anderer niederer Tiere [On starfish and a description of some polyps and other inferior animals]. Nova Acta Academiae Caesareae Leopoldino Carolinae germanicae naturae curiosorum, 16, 125–216.
- Müller, J. (1858). Über die Thalassicollen, Polycystinen und Acanthometren des Mittelmeeres. Abhandlungen der Königlichen Akademie del Wissenschaften zu Berlin, 1.
- Nakamura, Y., & Suzuki, N. (2015). Phaeodaria: Diverse marine cercozoans of world-wide distribution. In S. Ohtsuka, T. Suzaki, T. Horiguchi, N. Suzuki, & F. Not (Eds.), *Marine protists. Diversity and dynamics* (pp. 233–249). Tokyo: Springer.
- Nakamura, Y., Imai, I., Yamaguchi, A., Tuji, A., Not, F., & Suzuki, N. (2015). Molecular phylogeny of the widely distributed marine protists, Phaeodaria (Rhizaria, Cercozoa). *Protist*, 166(3), 363–373. doi:10.1016/j.protis.2015.05.004.
- Nazarov, B. B. (1973). Radialyarii iz nizhnikh gorizontov Kemriya Batenevskogo Kryazha [Radiolaria from the Lowest Cambrian Horizons of Batenev Ridge] *Biostratigraphy and Paleontology of the Lower Cambrian of Siberia and the Far East* (pp. 5–12). Novosibirsk: Nauka.
- Nigrini, C. A., & Moore, T. C. (1979). A guide to modern Radiolaria. Washington, DC: Cushman Foundation for Foraminiferal Research, Special Publication 16.
- Nimmergut, A., & Abelmann, A. (2002). Spatial and seasonal changes of radiolarian standing stocks in the Sea of Okhotsk. *Deep-Sea Research*, 49(3), 463–493.
- Nothig, E. M., & Gowing, M. M. (1991). Late winter abundance and distribution of phaeodarian radiolarians, other large protozooplankton, and copepod nauplii in the Weddell Sea, Antarctica. *Marine Biology*, 111, 473–484.

- Obut, O. T., & Iwata, K. (2000). Lower Cambrian Radiolaria from the Gorny Altai (Southern West Siberia). *Novosti v Paleontologii i Stratigrafii, 2–3*, 33–38.
- Paverd, P. J. (1995). Recent polycystine radiolaria from the Snellius-II expedition. Ph. D. Thesis, Vrije Universiteit, Amsterdam.
- Petrushevskaya, M. G. (1967). Radiolyarii otryadov Spumellaria i Nassellaria Antarkticheskoi oblasti (po materialam Sovetskoi Antarkticheskoi Ekspeditzii) [Radiolarians of the orders Spumellaria and Nassellaria from the Antarctic region (on the basis of materials collected by the Soviet Antarctic Expedition)] *Issledovaniya Fauny Morei* (Vol. 4(12), pp. 5–186). Leningrad: Nauka.
- Petrushevskaya, M. G. (1971a). On the natural system of polycystine Radiolaria (Class Sarcodina). In A. Farinacci (Ed.), *Proceedings of the second Planktonic conference* (pp. 981–992). Roma: Tecnoscienza.
- Petrushevskaya, M. G. (1971b). Radiolyarii Nassellaria v planktone Mirovogo Okeana [Radiolaria Nassellaria in the plankton of the World Ocean] (Vol. 9 (17)). Leningrad: Nauka.
- Petrushevskaya, M. G. (1981). Radiolyarii otryada Nassellaria Mirovogo Okeana [Radiolarians of the order Nassellaria of the World Ocean]. Leningrad: Nauka.
- Petrushevskaya, M. G. (1986). *Radiolaryarievyi analiz [Radiolarian analysis]*. Leningrad: Nauka (Akademiya Nauk SSSR).
- Petrushevskaya, M. G., Cachon, J., & Cachon, M. (1976). Sravnitelno-morfologicheskoye izuchenie radiolarii – osnovy novoi sistematiki [Comparative-morphological study of radiolarians: Foundations of new taxonomy]. Zoologicheskii Zhurnal, 55(4), 485–496.
- Pierrot-Bults, A. C. (1974). Taxonomy and zoogeography of certain members of the "Sagitta serratodentata-group" (Chaetognatha). Bijdragen tot de Dierkunde, 44(2), 215–234.
- Polet, S., Berney, C., Fahrni, J., & Pawlowski, J. (2004). Small-Subunit ribosomal RNA gene sequences of Phaeodarea challenge the monophyly of Haeckel's Radiolaria. *Protist*, 155(1), 53–63. doi:10.1078/1434461000164.
- Probert, I., Siano, R., Poirier, C., Decelle, J., Biard, T., Tuji, A., ..., Not, F. (2014). Brandtodinium gen. nov. and B. nutriculum comb. Nov. (Dinophyceae), a dinoflagellate commonly found in symbiosis with polycystine radiolarians. Journal of Phycology, 50(2), 388–399. doi:10.1111/ jpy.12174.
- Reid, J. L. (1965). Intermediate waters of the Pacific Ocean. John Hopkins Oceanographic Studies, 2, 1–85.
- Reshetnjak, V. V. (1955). Vertikalnoe raspredelenie radiolyarii Kurilo-Kamchatskoi vpadiny [The vertical distributions of the radiolarians of the Kurile-Kamchatka trench]. *Trudy Zoologicheskogo Instituta Akademii Nauk SSSR*, 21, 94–101.
- Reshetnjak, V. V. (1966). Fauna SSSR. Radialyarii (Fauna of the USSR. Radiolarians] (Vol. 94). Leningrad: Nauka.
- Riedel, W. R. (1967). Subclass Radiolaria. In W. B. Harland, C. H. Holland, M. R. House, N. F. Hughes, A. B. Reynolds, M. J. S. Rudwick, G. E. Satterthwaite, I. B. H. Tarlo, & E. C. Willey (Eds.), *The fossil record. A symposium with documentation* (pp. 291–298). London: Geological Society of London.
- Riedel, W. R. (1971). Systematic classification of polycystine Radiolaria. In W. R. Riedel & B. M. Funnell (Eds.), *The micropaleontology of oceans* (pp. 649–660). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Riedel, W. R., & Foreman, H. P. (1995). Catalogue of polycystine Radiolaria. National Technical Information Service, NTIS ID Number PB281000/LC.
- Riedel, W. R., & Sanfilippo, A. (1986). Morphological characters for a natural classification of Cenozoic Radiolaria, reflecting phylogenies. *Marine Micropaleontology*, 11(1–3), 151–170.
- Sanfilippo, A., & Riedel, W. R. (1970). Post-Eocene "closed" theoperid radiolarians. *Micropale-ontology*, 16(4), 446–462.
- Sanfilippo, A., Westberg-Smith, M. J., & Riedel, W. R. (1985). Cenozoic Radiolaria. In H. M. Bolli, J. B. Saunders, & K. Perch-Nielsen (Eds.), *Plankton stratigraphy* (pp. 631–712). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.

- Seears, H. A., Darling, K. F., & Wade, C. M. (2012). Ecological partitioning and diversity in tropical planktonic foraminifera. *BMC Evolutionary Biology*, 12, 54. doi:10.1186/1471-2148-12-54.
- Sierra, R., Matz, M. V., Aglyamova, G., Pillet, L., Decelle, J., Not, F., ..., Pawlowski, J. (2013). Deep relationships of Rhizaria revealed by phylogenomics: A farewell to Haeckel's Radiolaria. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, 67(1), 53–59. doi:10.1016/j.ympev.2012.12.011.
- Stepanjants, S. D., Kruglikova, S. B., Bjørklund, K. R., & Cortese, G. (2004). The bipolar distribution of marine organisms with emphasis on Radiolaria and Cnidaria: A step forward. In A. I. Kafanov (Ed.), *Main problems in marine biogeography. In memory of the academician* O.G. Kussakin (pp. 132–181). Vladivostok: Dalnauka.
- Stepanjants, S. D., Cortese, G., Kruglikova, S. B., & Bjørklund, K. R. (2006). A review of bipolarity concepts: History and examples from Radiolaria and Medusozoa (Cnidaria). *Marine Biology Research*, 2(3), 200–241. doi:10.1080/17451000600781767.
- Suzuki, N., & Aita, Y. (2011). Radiolaria: Achievements and unresolved issues: Taxonomy and cytology. *Plankton and Benthos Research*, 6(2), 69–91.
- Swanberg, N. R. (1979). The ecology of colonial radiolarians: Their colony morphology, trophic interactions and associations, behavior, distribution, and the protosynthesis of their symbionts. Ph.D. Thesis, Massachusetts Institute of Technology and Woods Hole Oceanographic Intitution, Woods Hole.
- Swanberg, N. R., & Caron, D. A. (1991). Patterns of sarcodine feeding in epipelagic oceanic plankton. Journal of Plankton Research, 13(2), 287–312.
- Swanberg, N. R., Bennett, P., Lindsey, J. I., & Anderson, R. O. (1986). The biology of a coelodendrid: A mesopelagic phaeodarian radiolarian. *Deep-Sea Research*, 33(1), 15–25.
- Takahashi, K., & Anderson, O. R. (2000). Class Phaeodarea. In J. Lee (Ed.), An illustrated guide to the protozoa (pp. 981–994). Kansas: Society of Protozoologists.
- Takahashi, K., & Hurd, D. C. (2007). Micro- and ultra-structures of phaeodarian Radiolaria. Memories of the Faculty of Science of Kyushu University, Series D, Earth & Panetary Science, 31(4), 137–158.
- Vishnevskaya, V. S., & Agarkov, Y. V. (1998). Late Cretaceous radiolaria of the North Caucasus as missing link to correlate tropical and boreal scales. *Doklady Akademii Nauk*, 360, 655–659.
- Vishnevskaya, V. S., & Kostyuchenko, A. S. (2000). The evolution of Radiolarian biodiversity. *Paleontologicheskii Zhurnal*, 34, 124–130.
- Yuasa, T., Takahashi, O., Dolven, J. K., Mayama, S., Matsuoka, A., Honda, D., & Bjørklund, K. R. (2006). Phylogenetic position of the small solitary phaeodarians (Radiolaria) based on 18S rDNA sequences by single cell PCR analysis. *Marine Micropaleontology*, 59(2), 104–114. doi:10.1016/j.marmicro.2006.01.003.
- Yuasa, T., Dolven, J. K., Bjørklund, K. R., Mayama, S., & Takahashi, O. (2009). Molecular phylogenetic position of *Hexacontium pachydermum* Jørgensen (Radiolaria). *Marine Micropaleontology*, 73(1–2), 129–134. doi:10.1016/j.marmicro.2009.08.001.
- Yuasa, T., Horiguchi, T., Mayama, S., Matsuoka, A., & Takahashi, O. (2012). Ultrastructural and molecular characterization of symbionts in *Dictyocoryne profunda* (polycystine radiolarian). *Symbiosis*, 57(1), 51–55.